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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I'm Bill Perkins, Chair of the Council's

          4  Committee on Governmental Operations. Today's

          5  hearing is on Introductory Bill No. 231-A, a local

          6  law changing the name of the Department of Business

          7  Services to the Department of Small Business

          8  Services. This is a change that DBS, after much

          9  deliberation, believes would better reflect its

         10  historical mission and function.

         11                 This Committee, after reviewing DBS's

         12  role and discussing its function and assessing the

         13  nature of the businesses receiving assistance from

         14  DBS is in agreement that such a change would better

         15  represent the governmental roles DBS provides

         16  vis-a-vis the business community.

         17                 The new name would better inform

         18  small, minority and women-owned businesses where to

         19  turn for this type of much-needed economic

         20  assistance. During today's hearing we will hear

         21  panelists' testimony from the Department of Business

         22  Services and some Business Improvement Districts and

         23  some community representatives.

         24                 After reviewing this testimony, we

         25  will vote on changing the name of the Department of
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          2  Business Services to the Department of Small

          3  Business Services.

          4                 I want to acknowledge the members of

          5  the Committee that are here. First, representing our

          6  Health Committee, Christine Quinn of Manhattan, and

          7  then representing, the Chair of our Senior Centers

          8  Committee, Council Member Mike Nelson, Brooklyn.

          9                 To my left, as always, representing

         10  our Public Safety Committee, Peter Vallone, Jr.,

         11  Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr., from the Borough

         12  of Queens; and from the great Borough of the Bronx,

         13  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano of the Housing and

         14  Buildings Committee.

         15                 I want to also acknowledge our

         16  Counsel to the Committee, Matthew Tollin and our

         17  Policy Analyst, Barbara Montefel.

         18                 I also want to now begin by calling

         19  on our first witness, our Commissioner of the

         20  Department of Business Services, Robert Walsh, and

         21  Andrew Schwartz, the Deputy Commissioner and General

         22  Counsel.

         23                 We would like to swear you in. No

         24  offense, just a procedure that we use with all our

         25  witnesses.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Sure.

          3                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Would you

          4  each raise your right hand to be sworn in.

          5                 Do you each solemnly swear or affirm

          6  that the testimony you're about to give is the whole

          7  truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I do.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I do.

         10                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

         11                 Would you each, for the record, state

         12  your name, the organization you're affiliated with

         13  and your position.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I'm Rob Walsh,

         15  Commissioner of the Department of Business Services.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Andrew

         17  Schwartz, Deputy Commissioner, Department of

         18  Business Services, and General Counsel.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Please proceed.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you very

         21  much. Thanks for having us. And good afternoon,

         22  everybody. Good afternoon, Chairman Perkins, members

         23  of the City Council, Governmental Operations

         24  Committee. I'm Rob Walsh, Commissioner of Business

         25  Services, and I'm here to testify in support of
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          2  Intro. 231-A. This bill may seem to be a minor

          3  change but certainly reflects an important revision

          4  to the New York City Charter by changing the name of

          5  our agency from the Department of Business Services

          6  to the Department of Small Business Services.

          7                 We believe that an agency's name is

          8  fundamental to communicating effectively its role to

          9  the public. Since coming to this position in

         10  February, my staff and I have been focusing to

         11  better serve largely underserved 200,000 small

         12  businesses and thousands of potential entrepreneurs

         13  throughout New York City.

         14                 Small businesses comprise 98 percent

         15  of all businesses throughout New York City. Nine of

         16  ten of those businesses have fewer than 20

         17  employees. They account for nearly half of New York

         18  City's private sector labor force, 40 percent of its

         19  payroll. Outside of Manhattan, the small business

         20  community represents an even greater proportion of

         21  business. In our view, this warrants the dedicated

         22  attention of our agency. We want small businesses to

         23  be able to find us easily. Towards that end we're

         24  changing our outreach strategies to make ourselves

         25  more accessible.
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          2                 We believe that a key aspect is to

          3  change the name so it provides direction to the

          4  constituency, and under this bill we would

          5  accomplish that objective by changing the agency's

          6  name to the Department of Small Business Services.

          7                 The mission of the agency is to

          8  support the formation, growth and expansion of City

          9  small businesses by providing business assistance,

         10  fostering neighborhood development with a growth of

         11  Business Improvement Districts, local development

         12  corporations, promoting economic opportunity through

         13  government procurement.

         14                 We help small businesses access

         15  government services and resolve problems with City

         16  agencies and public utilities. We help retain and

         17  attract small businesses through incentive programs.

         18  We provide emergency assistance to small businesses

         19  affected by construction projects, fires and other

         20  disasters, and we help small minority and

         21  women-owned businesses grow through participation in

         22  our government procurement programs.

         23                 In addition, the agency supports

         24  small businesses by working with locally-based

         25  organizations to strengthen their commercial
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          2  districts.

          3                 The change in the name of the agency

          4  to the Department of Small Business Services will

          5  identify us as the go-to agency for the small

          6  business community.

          7                 Your endorsement of this change will

          8  send an important signal to the small business

          9  community that the City values them and recognizes

         10  their importance to the City's economic health and

         11  well-being.

         12                 I urge you to support this measure

         13  and be happy to take any questions you might have.

         14                 Thank you very much for this

         15  opportunity.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have

         17  testimony?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: No, I

         19  don't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         21  much, Commissioner.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: For your

         24  testimony, your presence and the work you're doing

         25  on behalf of our City. Clearly this Committee and
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          2  this Council is very supportive of the small

          3  business community, and obviously some of us have a

          4  special interest with regard to the women and

          5  minority-owned small businesses and this change

          6  suggests some great possibilities for those

          7  particular constituencies, as well as the small

          8  business constituency in general.

          9                 So, we want to thank you for your

         10  efforts toward making this change, and would like to

         11  just ask you a few questions.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: One of which is,

         14  can you be somewhat more explicit as to what might

         15  you describe as a small business, or is that a term

         16  that you still kind of -- that you can't quite

         17  pinpoint?

         18                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's a good

         19  question, and it's a question that comes up quite a

         20  bit, quite frankly. A number of people have asked

         21  the same question you're asking.

         22                 It is defined in many of the circles,

         23  when dealing with the feds, the state, the local

         24  associations, businesses under 100 people, and as I

         25  mentioned in the testimony, that's 98 percent of our
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          2  businesses, so it's generally those under 100.

          3                 Now, that's not to say the Department

          4  of Small Business Services would not be there to

          5  help any business in this City with their issues,

          6  whether it's incentives or helping them navigate

          7  through government.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me suggest

          9  this then. Those which are not considered small

         10  businesses, just for the sake of information, where

         11  do they go? You know, those of us who, you know, who

         12  have large businesses, you know, what do they do?

         13                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Well, we're

         14  working hand-in-hand with the Economic Development

         15  Corporation, and they have shifted their focus to a

         16  client-managed system and we've been working

         17  hand-in-hand with EDC on that, and I think it's fair

         18  to see that you'll see a greater cooperation between

         19  the Economic Development Corporation and the

         20  Department of Small Business Services when that

         21  happens.

         22                 I got a phone call today, I'll give

         23  you an example, of a small little bank called Bank

         24  of America, which is headquartered in Charlotte,

         25  North Carolina, where I was for five years. They
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          2  want help, they're looking to grow in New York and

          3  obviously, you know, I'm going to take that call and

          4  I'm going to make sure that we connect that with the

          5  Economic Development Corporation.

          6                 The fact of the matter is, when

          7  walking the streets, I've been out there quite a

          8  bit, and one of the complaints that I hear from deli

          9  owners and shoe shop owners and you name it, is

         10  where do I go? What's the one-stop shop? What is the

         11  place in City government that is going to look out

         12  for our needs.

         13                 So, as a result we've organized by

         14  borough, and I have the connections and we've been a

         15  lot more proactive in getting out into the

         16  neighborhoods. I go out at least two times, maybe

         17  three times a week, out into different corridors of

         18  the City, just walk and talk and hear and look at

         19  things, and, you know, that's where the need is, and

         20  that's what we're hearing through all our surveys

         21  and work.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: One final

         23  question and then I'll turn to my colleagues.

         24  Clearly this change is expected to increase the

         25  number of small businesses that are going to be
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          2  using the services of the Department of Small

          3  Business Services, and in that regard I would hope

          4  that more so-called minority businesses and women's

          5  businesses would increase in terms of their

          6  participation; do you anticipate that? And about how

          7  much of that are you getting now and where do you

          8  think it will go as a result of this change or as a

          9  result of your outreach efforts in the future?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Well, you alluded

         11  to an important point in terms of getting out and

         12  reaching out to minority communities, women-owned

         13  businesses, small businesses.

         14                 We've created a Division of Economic

         15  and Financial Opportunity headed up by Assistant

         16  Commissioner Michael Smith, and we just hired a

         17  woman by the name of Celeste Morris, you may have

         18  dealt with her in the past. She used to publish

         19  something called the "Big Black Book" of

         20  African-American businesses. She's coming to work

         21  with us, we're very proud of that, because she

         22  understands. She's a small -- she was, I've got to

         23  be careful, she was a small business owner, and she

         24  understands a lot of the issues that face that.

         25                 I'm going to be real frank with you
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          2  on this. We've got to get the house in order, we've

          3  got to get our databases in order, we've got to get

          4  our systems in place, and then we've got to outreach

          5  to the agencies again and make sure not only that

          6  businesses are certifying, I'll tell you what I'd

          7  like to see, I'd like to see certification on-line,

          8  as much as you can do on-line, you still need the

          9  signature but why not make that information

         10  available?

         11                 Michael Smith, who is with us today,

         12  Assistant Commissioner, has been going out to the

         13  conferences, has been going out to the expos, has

         14  been visiting the associations to get the numbers up

         15  and get the increases. That's not enough. We've got

         16  to get the agencies, the City agencies, my

         17  colleagues, other commissioners, to begin using the

         18  list again, and that's something that we're working

         19  on and we're working very aggressively on.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I'm glad

         21  to hear that, and also I'm glad to hear that Celeste

         22  Morris is coming on board. I'm very familiar with

         23  her over the years in terms of the work that she's

         24  done, in terms of trying to develop not only her

         25  business, but other businesses as well. So, it's a
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          2  feather in your cap that you're going to be able to

          3  take advantage of her expertise.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Well, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Are there any

          6  questions of my other members?

          7                 You had something to say,

          8  Commissioner?

          9                 Thank you very much, I appreciate

         10  your time.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you very

         12  much. Thanks for having us. Appreciate it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Next we'll have

         14  our second panel, business representatives. Mr.

         15  Floyd Edin of Ready Data; Rodney Evans of Skyline

         16  Communications --

         17                 MR. EVANS: Connections.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Connections?

         19  Okay, thank you for the correction.

         20                 And Renee Giordano, Executive

         21  Director of the Sunset Park Business Improvement

         22  District.

         23                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Would you

         24  each raise your right arm?

         25                 Do you each solemnly swear or affirm
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          2  that the testimony you're about to give is the whole

          3  truth and nothing but the truth?

          4                 MR. EVANS: I do.

          5                 MR. EDIN: I do.

          6                 MS. GIORDANO: I do.

          7                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

          8                 Could you please state for the record

          9  your name, the organization you're affiliated with

         10  and your position.

         11                 MR. EDIN: Floyd Edin. I'm the owner

         12  of Ready Data, New York City.

         13                 My name is Floyd Edin, and I'm the

         14  owner of Ready Data, and I'm located in Manhattan.

         15                 MS. GIORDANO: I'm Renee Giordano, I'm

         16  the Executive Director of the Sunset Park Business

         17  Improvement District in Brooklyn.

         18                 MR. EVANS: Good afternoon. Rodney

         19  Evans, President and CEO of Skyline Connections

         20  based here in New York City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: As you wish to

         22  begin.

         23                 MR. EVANS: Okay, I'll start.

         24                 I first came involved with the

         25  Department of Business Services six years ago. I've
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          2  been in business seven years. I started after March,

          3  I came back and started my company. And six years

          4  ago they hooked me up with the Bid Match Program,

          5  which aligned my company with City and State

          6  agencies and helped me get certified with the State

          7  with the Empire Program. They also gave me advice on

          8  getting certified with my 8A federal certification,

          9  so now we're 8A certified by the federal, we're

         10  certified by the State and the City, and the bulk of

         11  my business has come from State and local agencies.

         12  We were just mentioned in Inc Magazine two months

         13  ago as the third fastest small grown company in

         14  America out of 6,000 companies.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What magazine

         16  was that?

         17                 MR. EVANS: Inc, I-n-c. Magic Johnson

         18  won the award last year. We came in third this year,

         19  and I've got to give these guys credit for helping

         20  me get there. I appreciate that.

         21                 And also I was glad to hear about

         22  Bank of America, that's one of my clients, and

         23  anything you guys can do to help us with that, we do

         24  installations for them here in New York, New Jersey

         25  and Connecticut. We have about 20 employees. In
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          2  seven years we've grown to $14 million in sales, and

          3  you know, we plan on staying here in New York. We've

          4  opened an office in Maryland, we're going in the

          5  federal arena for some government business.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So a small

          7  number of employees doesn't necessarily mean like

          8  you do a small amount of business?

          9                 MR. EVANS: No. No, sir.

         10                 MS. GIORDANO: Hello. My name is Renee

         11  Giordano. I'm the Executive Director of the Sunset

         12  Park Business Improvement District in Brooklyn.

         13                 I'd like to thank Councilman Perkins

         14  and the Committee for allowing me to speak to you

         15  today.

         16                 New York City is known throughout the

         17  world as the headquarters for the World Financial

         18  District, and for many large corporations, and it's

         19  often believed that for a company to be truly

         20  successful it must be located in New York City.

         21                 Likewise, New York City has always

         22  been the City of endless opportunity. Enterprising

         23  individuals from all areas in the US and the rest of

         24  the world believe that this is a place where the

         25  small business owner or the entrepreneur who wants
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          2  to start a small company or open a store on a local

          3  commercial strip can fulfill his or her dream.

          4                 In residential neighborhoods the

          5  prosperity of the community depends upon the

          6  economic base, which is mostly comprised of these

          7  small businesses, while a large corporation may have

          8  many experts who can gather information and find out

          9  what is needed to run it smoothly, the small

         10  business owner must find out information on his or

         11  her own - what licenses are needed, what permits are

         12  important and how to file the necessary forms to be

         13  in compliance with City regulations.

         14                 What they may not know is that the

         15  Department of Business Services is here for them.

         16                 I've often received calls from local

         17  residents and even from people outside of New York

         18  City who want to find out where is the best place to

         19  go for that advice and direction to start a

         20  business, and I always direct them to the Department

         21  of Business Services.

         22                 The Sunset Park BID is located in

         23  Brooklyn along 26th blocks of Fifth Avenue and

         24  includes over 520 small businesses. They are mom and

         25  pop shops and small offices who often need help to

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  navigate through the system.

          3                 The Department of Business Services

          4  has helped many of them throughout the years. When

          5  two of our businesses were severely damaged by fire,

          6  the emergency unit was able to give them grants to

          7  help with the repairs.

          8                 Not all small business owners can get

          9  loans from a bank. The Department of Business

         10  Services held a seminar with information for us to

         11  bring back to our members about microlenders which

         12  operate in the City.

         13                 Through that seminar our BID made

         14  contact with Accion New York, who now uses our

         15  offices to reach clients within the BID and the

         16  Sunset Park community who can't travel to their main

         17  office in Williamsburg.

         18                 When I first heard of the idea of

         19  changing the name, I thought it was a great move.

         20  Calling this agency the Department of Small Business

         21  Services reflects exactly what its mission is. It is

         22  important for New York City, a City known for its

         23  small business opportunities to have a department

         24  which is there for the small business owner. But it

         25  is just as important for those who need the services
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          2  of this Department to be aware of its existence.

          3                 I'm asking you today to please

          4  approve their request and to change the name of

          5  Department of Business Services to Department of

          6  Small Business Services. Although this may seem like

          7  a small change, it will be a big step in bringing

          8  together the small business owner who is looking for

          9  the agency which was created to help him or her

         10  succeed with fulfilling an American dream.

         11                 MR. EDIN: My name is Floyd Edin. I'd

         12  like to thank Business Services for helping my

         13  company over the last couple of years.

         14                 I never did, prior to their

         15  involvement I never did any business with New York

         16  City government, and I really had no idea how to

         17  penetrate the different agencies.

         18                 I was told by the agencies we have

         19  enough bidders. We have our bidders and that's it.

         20  They came out with a program that was really geared

         21  to helping small businesses, Bid Match, and I

         22  participated, and all of a sudden I was quoting with

         23  agencies I had never met and I was submitting

         24  proposals to the Department of Finance, to the NYPD,

         25  Department of Sanitation. I got involved and won
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          2  various contracts, and gradually people got to know

          3  me and my company got to grow.

          4                 I was able to mushroom these accounts

          5  into other accounts and I'm also selling other

          6  larger institutions, companies like the United

          7  Nations, the Government of Israel, and this could

          8  never have really happened, unless the focus of this

          9  agency was on helping small businesses.

         10                 I'm extremely grateful, because,

         11  obviously, I'm a New York City resident, my

         12  employees are New Yorkers, and I spend my money here

         13  and it's good to see that the government is

         14  investing itself in the small business, and

         15  therefore having an agency that could help me and

         16  other small businesses is terrific. Companies like

         17  Staples, McDonald's, they have a vast array of

         18  lawyers that we could never compete with. It's good

         19  to know that we could call our own government and

         20  say, hey, we need help, and there is an agency.

         21  Therefore, if you do adopt this change, it would

         22  really help small businesses.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Any questions?
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          2                 MR. EVANS: I'd like to add one more

          3  thing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure.

          5                 MR. EVANS: One of the other things

          6  they really do that help small businesses, they have

          7  a lot of panels. They had something at the Brooklyn

          8  Library about seven, eight months ago, they had a

          9  lot of speakers come by, and this was for people who

         10  didn't have a business who wanted to start a

         11  business, really small companies, and they had a few

         12  of us come and speak at that arena, and I think the

         13  people really got excited about an opportunity to

         14  ask questions from the panel and get some really

         15  good feedback on really how to start a small

         16  business.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Council Member Nelson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just a quick

         21  one for Ms. Giordano.

         22                 Are there any other agencies that

         23  your organizational members can turn to, besides?

         24                 MS. GIORDANO: I assume that we can go

         25  to almost any department. We can go to Consumer
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          2  Affairs if we need something, we can go to Finance

          3  if we need something, but to get through the

          4  networks in each of those agencies is very

          5  difficult. So, you start with the Department of

          6  Business Services and they help you navigate through

          7  the different other departments who you need to

          8  reach.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So a prime

         10  contact.

         11                 MS. GIORDANO: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, thank

         13  you.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much, each and every one of you, for your time and

         17  your testimony, and especially for the work that

         18  you're doing in terms of the small business

         19  community. And wish you continued success, and I

         20  hope that you become a big business, as I'm sure is

         21  your dream. And, so, anything we can do to be

         22  helpful, let us know.

         23                 MR. EVANS: Thank you.

         24                 MR. EDIN: Thank you.

         25                 MS. GIORDANO: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We're going to

          3  get ready to take a vote. I just want to share that

          4  while we are very supportive of this name change,

          5  and what it can do to advertise to small businesses

          6  that there's a place for them in our City

          7  government, a place that has a track record of being

          8  supportive, and we know that names mean a great deal

          9  in terms of perceptions and in terms of people's

         10  connections to what it is that we're trying to

         11  accomplish. So, we're happy to see this change take

         12  place. I want to make sure that in our support of

         13  this change, that we don't send a message that this

         14  City is not also welcoming and supportive of those

         15  that may not be small businesses. So, while we are

         16  today talking about a name change in support of

         17  small business, please let it be clear that we'd

         18  like in this City to help all businesses.

         19                 And, so, with that in mind I'm going

         20  to ask that we take a vote. Are we ready?

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I vote aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I'd like

         25  to explain my vote.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Please.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: It was

          4  nice to hear the folks from the small businesses

          5  speak so well of the agency, and I know how hard the

          6  agency works in my area, so I'd like to commend the

          7  Commissioner Rob Walsh on the great job he's doing,

          8  and I guess now we'll refer to you instead of "DBS"

          9  it's going to be DSBS. I vote aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Nelson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If I may be

         12  excused to explain my vote.

         13                 I also would like to add my

         14  congratulatory remarks in the help that the present

         15  name of the Administration's Office of Small

         16  Business has done, and I'm sure they'll do an even

         17  better job after the name change. And, yes, Bill

         18  Gates, we're not keeping you out of this City by any

         19  means. I vote aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         25  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no
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          2  abstentions, the item is adopted. The vote will

          3  remain open. Council members, please sign the

          4  Committee report.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much. And I want to thank the Committee members for

          7  their participation, their attendance and their

          8  support, and the vote will remain open. I know there

          9  are some other members who are on their way to vote

         10  and so we want to give them an opportunity to show

         11  their support as well.

         12                 I want to say to the Commissioner and

         13  others of the Department of Business Services, the

         14  Department of Small Business Services, that this has

         15  been the least controversial piece of legislation

         16  that we've had the opportunity to embrace, and, so,

         17  hopefully we will continue to have this type of

         18  consensus on whether we're dealing with small

         19  matters or big matters. Thank you very much.

         20                 (Off the record.)

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         24  six in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         25  abstentions.
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          2                 (Off the record.)

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Committee on

          4  Governmental Operations, proposed Intro. 231-A,

          5  Council Member Moskowitz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

          8  eight in the affirmative -- excuse me. The vote now

          9  stands at seven in the affirmative, zero in the

         10  negative, and no abstentions.

         11                 (Off the record.)

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Committee on

         13  Governmental Operations. Proposed Intro. 231-A,

         14  Council Member Addabbo.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         17  eight in the affirmative, zero in the negative, and

         18  no abstentions.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 7th day of October 2002.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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